
A/CN.4/SR.2308

Summary record of the 2308th meeting

Extract from the Yearbook of the International Law Commission:-

1993

Document:-

vol. I,

Topic:
<multiple topics>

Copyright © United Nations

Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission 
(http://www.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm)



2308th meeting—16 June 1993 67

tides 6 to 10.15 Hence, the Special Rapporteur had ap-
parently departed from the approach of his predecessor,
whose article 1 of part 316 had referred to article 6, which
corresponded to the current Special Rapporteur's articles
6 to 10. The Special Rapporteur had sought to clarify
that lacuna in his note. In his own view, that gap might
also be closed later, for example by drafting another arti-
cle of a general nature on the scope of application.

38. The Special Rapporteur had undertaken a complete
and thorough examination of the structure and nature of
the proposed dispute settlement procedure, taking into
account the need to restrict resort to countermeasures or
at least to curtail their adverse aspects, and had tried to
reply to the serious concerns about including counter-
measures in the draft. In that regard, he agreed with the
perspicacious comments in the report on the need for an
adequate dispute settlement system as an indispensable
complement to a regime governing unilateral reactions.
On the other hand, in the framework of the solution rec-
ommended, the explanations about the application of ar-
ticle 12, paragraph 1 (a), of part 2, concerning the ex-
haustion of all the amicable settlement procedures
available before resorting to countermeasures, were not
always very clear. That provision, in the wording con-
tained in the fourth report,17 mentioned a whole range of
means of such settlement, in sources other than the fu-
ture convention on State responsibility. In its present
form, the provision would appear to be a condition for
resort to countermeasures, whereas the procedures in
part 3 for the settlement of disputes would only take ef-
fect, as stated in article 1 of part 3, following the adop-
tion of countermeasures. It was a simple and feasible
system. However, the Special Rapporteur's interpreta-
tion of article 12, paragraph 1 (a), considerably weak-
ened the scope of the provision, in that, according to
him, it only referred to settlement means without directly
prescribing them and did not directly set forth the obli-
gation to exhaust given procedures as a condition for re-
sorting to countermeasures. He thus hoped that the
Drafting Committee would eventually adopt a wording
for article 12, paragraph 1 (a), that was more precise and
more consistent with that restrictive interpretation.

39. The Special Rapporteur's desire to strengthen the
procedures for the settlement of disputes in respect of
countermeasures was understandable. In that regard, the
Special Rapporteur proposed two solutions: either to
make the lawfulness of any resort to countermeasures
conditional on the existence of a binding third-party pro-
nouncement, or to strengthen the non-binding procedure
by adding arbitration and judicial settlement procedures.
The former solution would appear to be more suitable
for significantly restricting the use of countermeasures
and would have been unthinkable while international re-
lations had been dominated by East-West antagonism.
But it did not seem to be the most realistic choice at pre-
sent, even if it was the only one that really took into ac-
count the situation of weak countries. The latter solution
was the one recommended by the fifth report and which

Mr. Pellet (2305th meeting) had termed revolutionary.
That was something of an exaggeration, because the so-
lution had simply been based upon the approach taken in
recent conventions, for example, in the United Nations
Convention on the Law of the Sea. Furthermore, it did
not in any way seek to prejudice the injured State's
"prerogative" of taking countermeasures or even sus-
pending countermeasures once they had been taken, un-
less a settlement procedure had been submitted to a third
party and the latter had ordered suspension of the coun-
termeasures.

40. The dispute settlement procedures in part 3 were in
many ways reminiscent of similar models in interna-
tional trade law, except that they had three phases: con-
ciliation, which could only give rise to recommendations
and only had binding effect with regard to provisional
measures of protection; arbitration, which was binding,
if conciliation failed; and, lastly, judicial settlement by
ICJ, particularly in the event of failure to set up the arbi-
tral tribunal. Although it might be argued that the system
was complicated and unwieldy, he agreed with the Spe-
cial Rapporteur that it could have a deterrent effect and
strengthen guarantees against abuse of unilateral reac-
tions. Making it non-binding would leave the way open
for powerful States to take justice into their own hands,
as many unfortunate examples in recent history had
shown.

41. As to the actual articles, the word "measures", in
article 1, was ambiguous and should be replaced by
"countermeasures". In the French version of article 3,
the word compromis (special agreement) should be re-
placed by clause compromissoire, because it was the
right to submit the dispute to arbitration that was at is-
sue, not the drafting of a document determining the ob-
ject of the dispute and the procedure to be followed once
the dispute had been submitted for arbitration. That
would be more in keeping with the "special agreement"
referred to in article 3, paragraphs 6 to 9, of the annex.
Lastly, the last part of article 5, subparagraph (a) (i),
should be altered to read " . . . within six months of the
submission of the report of the Conciliation Commis-
sion".

The meeting rose at 12.25 p.m.

15 For the texts of draft articles 6 to 16 of part 2, referred to the
Drafting Committee, see Yearbook... 1985, vol. II (Part Two),
pp. 20-21, footnote 66.

16 See footnote 4 above.
17 See footnote 7 above.

2308th MEETING

Wednesday, 16 June 1993, at 10.05 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Julio BARBOZA

Present: Mr. Al-Baharna, Mr. Al-Khasawneh, Mr.
Arangio-Ruiz, Mr. Bennouna, Mr. Calero Rodrigues,
Mr. de Saram, Mr. Eiriksson, Mr. Fomba, Mr. Giiney,
Mr. Idris, Mr. Kabatsi, Mr. Koroma, Mr. Mikulka, Mr.
Pambou-Tchivounda, Mr. Sreenivasa Rao, Mr. Razafin-
dralambo, Mr. Robinson, Mr. Rosenstock, Mr. Shi,
Mr. Szekely, Mr. Thiam, Mr. Tomuschat, Mr. Veresh-
chetin, Mr. Villagran Kramer, Mr. Yankov.



68 Summary records of the meetings of the forty-fifth session

State responsibility (continued) (A/CN.4/446, sect. C,
A/CN.4/453 and Add.1-3,1 A/CN.4/L.480 and
Add.l, ILC(XLV)/Conf.Room Doc.l)

[Agenda item 2]

FIFTH REPORT OF THE SPECIAL RAPPORTEUR (continued)

1. Mr. PAMBOU-TCHIVOUNDA said that basically
the fifth report on State responsibility (A/CN.4/453 and
Add.1-3) was devoted exclusively to the question of the
lawfulness of countermeasures or, in other words, the
reasons for conditions of implementation and modalities
of operation of the regime established by article 12,
which had been referred to the Drafting Committee in
1992.2 That showed the importance of the topic and the
originality of the report, which described not only the ar-
guments of the discussion on the complementarity of the
general regime of countermeasures and a special system
for the settlement of disputes, but also the specific rec-
ommendations and proposals put forward by the Special
Rapporteur.

2. The proposed system reflected the boldness and in-
genuity of its author and, with regard to substance,
namely, the formula to be devised in order to put an end
to the legal void resulting from the mutual violation of
the law by two States, it was not unrealistic, whatever
might have been said. By putting a premium on imparti-
ality through the impartial intervention of a third party, it
skilfully combined the advantages of political settlement
and judicial settlement. Unfortunately, the concern to re-
spect sovereignty was not always to be found in the
structure proposed by the Special Rapporteur, but the
structure's effectiveness depended on it because, in the
event of the breach of the legal order by a wrongful act,
the problem of returning to normal was above all one of
means. It must therefore be asked whether the theoretical
formula proposed by the Special Rapporteur was feas-
ible. When the Commission had considered the reports
by Georges Scelle on arbitration, it had criticized him for
devising a system which was de lege ferenda? Was the
"Arangio-Ruiz system" open to the same criticism?

3. At a time when a new international order appeared
to be taking shape against a background of the right of
interference, the settlement of disputes continued to be
subject to the sovereignty of States, of which counter-
measures were precisely the secular arm. However, the
practice of interference—meaning less sovereignty and
more solidarity—was international law in the making,
but it was not being criticized as being de lege ferenda.
Accordingly, why would written rules limiting the sover-
eignty of States in their propensity to manipulate interna-
tional legality be regarded as de lege ferendal The risks
of intransigence pointed out in the fifth report contained
the seeds of the risk of war and the Commission, whose
duty it was to wage war on war by means of the law,
should not hesitate to make States face up to their re-

1 Reproduced in Yearbook... 1993, vol. II (Part One).
2 For the texts of draft articles 5 bis and 11 to 14 of part 2 referred

to the Drafting Committee, see Yearbook... 1992, vol. II (Part Two),
footnotes 86, 56, 61, 67 and 69, respectively.

3 See Yearbook... 1953, vol. II, pp. 201-202, para. 15.

sponsibilities. Whatever criticisms might be levelled
against the Special Rapporteur, it had to be recognized
that his system was in conformity with the spirit of the
times. Drafting work still had to be done and some
points had to be clarified.

4. The report raised a substantive problem relating to
the operation and effectiveness of the proposed system.
A countermeasure in itself did not give rise to a dispute,
since it was by definition the exercise of a right: the dis-
pute which existed was, according to article 1 proposed
by the Special Rapporteur, the dispute which has arisen
following the adoption by the allegedly injured State of
any countermeasures. In that case, how could the con-
ciliation commission be entrusted with the task of first
determining the existence of the dispute—or, in other
words, be empowered to say, if need be, that there was
no dispute at all—when the injured State had already re-
sorted to countermeasures? That was the substantive
problem, the problem of effectiveness, and it related to
the triggering of the proposed system. The characteriza-
tion of the dispute depended mainly on whether the act
in question belonged to a particular legal category. In the
first stage of the system, it was thus the parties' differ-
ence of opinion about the legal characterization of the
factual situation that gave rise to the dispute. The charac-
terization by the conciliation commission could be made
only after the dispute had arisen following the conflict of
characterizations between the States concerned. In other
words, it was States that created the dispute, not the con-
ciliation commission. That misunderstanding had to be
dispelled.

5. Turning to the proposed provisions,4 article 2 also
gave rise to a substantive problem as a result of the fact
that conciliation was nothing more than a method of po-
litical settlement. The conciliator was not a judge. He
proposed and States, which were sovereign because they
were the original subjects of international law, disposed.
The conciliator therefore had to convince without being
able to impose anything. That was the price to be paid
for the effectiveness of the system. The word "order"
should therefore be replaced by the word "propose" in
article 2, paragraph 1 (b), and the words that followed
the words "settlement of the dispute" in paragraph 1 (a)
should be deleted.

6. Article 3 should also be brought more into line with
an orthodox approach to arbitration in order to forestall
the objections that were bound to be raised in the name
of national sovereignty. The question did not, moreover,
appear to have been given enough attention, as shown by
the contradiction between the establishment of an arbi-
tral tribunal "without special agreement" (art. 3) and the
existence of a "special agreement determining the sub-
ject of the dispute and the details of procedure" (annex,
art. 3, para. 6); that contradiction was all the more regret-
table in that the system made provision for possible re-
course to ICJ against an arbitral award vitiated by an
abuse of power or by a procedural defect.

7. With regard to the role of ICJ, he recognized the
need to reconcile effectiveness with free choice of
procedures and to give effect to the distinction between
crimes and offences and considered that, since the con-

See 2305th meeting, para. 25.



2308th meeting—16 June 1993 69

cept of abuse of power was subject to interpretation in
the present state of the text, the jurisdiction of ICJ
should be more limited. Moreover, bearing in mind the
slowness of proceedings in ICJ, its intervention might
have serious consequences for the interests at stake, es-
pecially those of the injured State.

8. In conclusion, he said that the bases of the
"Arangio-Ruiz system" were sound, but the proposed
structure was still incomplete and the Commission
should therefore take the necessary time to build it on
the basis of the materials which it had assembled.

9. Mr. KABATSI pointed out that, while some found
the fifth report somewhat timid, others saw in it the mak-
ings of a revolution or, in other words, a description of
the ideal rather than what was possible. The Special
Rapporteur had clearly stated that the ideal situation
would be one in which no State would be authorized le-
gally to take the law into its own hands and in which, in
the event of a dispute, the injured State, or rather the al-
legedly injured State, would request a third party to set-
tle the dispute, while reserving the right to resort to
countermeasures, but only for the purpose of leading the
wrongdoing State back to the path of legality. Many
States—and many past and present members of the
Commission—had long been advocating making that
ideal a reality and yet, in the 40 years during which the
Commission had been considering the question, it had
not made any progress. The reason was simple: there
were also many States—and many members of the
Commission—who preferred that States should remain
free to take whatever action they wished when they con-
sidered that a unilateral wrongful act had been commit-
ted and that procedures for the settlement of disputes
should be resorted to only at a later stage if the injured
State considered that to be in its interest. There could be
no better proof that legal techniques were still in the first
stages of their development and that the international le-
gal order was still inadequate. It was not that the dangers
of the situation were not clearly understood. Everyone
knew that unilateral measures and countermeasures were
counter-productive because they encouraged the intransi-
gence of the parties and the escalation of violence, ulti-
mately endangering international peace and security.
Quite often, that situation was envisaged only as be-
tween strong and weak States, but it could be even more
dangerous when the two parties were equal or almost
equal in strength. However, as the report clearly showed,
the advocates of unilateral remedies, as opposed to the
pacific settlement of disputes before resort to counter-
measures, had apparently won the day.

10. The report dealt only with a dispute settlement re-
gime that attempted to correct or to ameliorate the nega-
tive aspects of what it called the unilateral reaction sys-
tem. That was the purpose of the three-step dispute
settlement system—conciliation, arbitration and judicial
settlement—which had been proposed by the Special
Rapporteur and did not provide that special conditions
would be imposed on the States concerned and, in par-
ticular, the injured State, requiring it to refrain from any
countermeasure before the exhaustion of available dis-
pute settlement procedures or even those established by
the future instrument on State responsibility. Article 12,
paragraph 1 (a), as originally proposed by the Special

Rapporteur5 would have imposed an obligation of that
kind on the injured State, but, as the recent trend in the
Drafting Committee had been showing, that idea had had
to be abandoned, at least for the time being.

11. He therefore did not believe that much progress
could be made on the basis of the fifth report. That was
not because the Special Rapporteur lacked ideas on ways
of achieving a breakthrough in the development of inter-
national law. He had even proposed the theoretically
ideal solution, which was to establish the principle that
countermeasures were prohibited except in the event of a
binding third-party pronouncement, and had said that, if
the Commission so wished, he would be prepared to sub-
mit the necessary draft articles. Naturally, however, and
notwithstanding the trends which he pointed out, the
Special Rapporteur indicated that he was all too aware of
the Commission's general reluctance to consider bolder
provisions in the area of dispute settlement in previous
drafts, but stated that the Commission should not miss
the opportunity to make a significant contribution to the
development of the law of dispute settlement, particu-
larly during the United Nations Decade of International
Law.6

12. In conclusion, he agreed with the opinion ex-
pressed in the last paragraph of chapter I, section E, of
the report. He even believed that the time had come for
international lawyers to distance themselves from their
Governments in order to say what was right and fair,
rather than what was acceptable. He thanked the Special
Rapporteur for his proposals, which although not revolu-
tionary, were nevertheless bold because of the prospects
they held out.

13. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES expressed his thanks
to the Special Rapporteur for his fifth report, which of-
fered much food for thought and would, as the debate
had shown, be of great assistance to the Commission in
its study of the question of the settlement of disputes.

14. While the Commission had often hesitated to in-
clude dispute settlement provisions in its draft articles, it
seemed to have had no difficulty in concluding that the
draft articles on State responsibility should contain such
provisions.

15. In contrast to the usual reasons generally given for
not including such provisions, there was one very spe-
cific one which led to the opposite conclusion. After de-
fining an internationally wrongful act and its substantive
legal consequences—cessation, reparation, guarantees of
non-repetition—the draft articles on State responsibility
recognized the right of the State which considered itself
injured by what it regarded as an internationally wrong-
ful act not to comply with one or more of its obligations
towards the State it considered as the wrongdoer or, in
other words, to apply countermeasures. However, if it
was later determined that the assessment of the situation
was wrong, the countermeasures themselves would turn
out to be an internationally wrongful act and would trig-
ger the responsibility of the State which had applied
them; there was thus an obvious risk of escalation. A so-
lution would have to be found at some stage, but prefer-
ably as soon as possible, in order to avoid the perpetu-

5 See footnote 2 above.
6 Proclaimed by the General Assembly in its resolution 44/23.



70 Summary records of the meetings of the forty-fifth session

ation of a system of countermeasures and counter-
countermeasures and, if that solution was not arrived at
by agreement between the States concerned, it would
have to be sought through a third-party decision.

16. Moreover, it seemed to be the common view that
countermeasures were an ineffective means of solving
the problem because they put the injured State, at least
temporarily, in the position of being both judge and
party, maintaining the application of international law at
a primitive stage that had long disappeared from
organized systems of national law. Also, countermeas-
ures resulted in the accentuation of inequality among
States, in violation of the basic principle that States, like
men, were all equal before the law.

17. As an example of the injustice inherent in the sys-
tem of countermeasures, he would take the case men-
tioned by Mr. Fomba (2305th meeting). State A expelled
a number of nationals of State B, in contravention, ac-
cording to State B, of a treaty in force between the two
States. State B, a weak State, protested, alleging the
illegality of the act. State A maintained its position, in-
sisting on the legality of its action. The treaty in question
provided only for negotiation as a means of settling dis-
putes. The only recourse left to State B was to apply
countermeasures, for instance, by ordering the expulsion
of the same number of nationals of State A. State A
might then consider that such countermeasures were not
lawful and decide to apply counter-countermeasures.
The escalation could only further harm State B so that it
would be entirely unprotected, perhaps until such time as
the aggravation of the dispute led to some more effective
means of settlement than that provided for in the treaty,
or relations between the two States might suffer to the
detriment of the weaker State, namely, State B, which,
being unable to resort to countermeasures, would have to
give in. One day, perhaps, it might be vindicated. In the
meantime, it would be hurt in its pride and its interests
simply because it was weak and countermeasures always
operated in favour of the strong. The injustice in such a
case, as in many others, would be eliminated if an effec-
tive system of settlement were applied from the very be-
ginning in disputes involving the international respons-
ibility of States.

18. One central question in matters of responsibility
was precisely the relationship to be established between
the right to apply countermeasures and the obligation to
submit disputes to a system of peaceful settlement. Since
the Commission had decided to maintain the resort to
countermeasures because it wished, having regard to ex-
isting international law, to remain in the realm of what
was possible, it should at least give countermeasures a
moral content (moraliser les contremesures) and, to that
end, should, as the Special Rapporteur stated, "make the
lawfulness of any resort to countermeasures . . . condi-
tional upon the existence of the said, binding, third-party
pronouncement". That would not, as had been said,
cause an upheaval in international law, but, rather, in the
words of the Special Rapporteur, a breakthrough—a
modest one, in his own view—in the development of in-
ternational law and justice and equality would surely be
better safeguarded.

19. The Special Rapporteur was not sure that the Com-
mission was ready to accept that concept, but he said
that he was ready to submit draft articles along those

lines if the Commission so wished. He himself was very
much in favour of it and he trusted that the Commission
would follow that line.

20. The Special Rapporteur suggested a three-tiered
system for the settlement of disputes—a well-conceived
though rather conventional scheme—which started with
conciliation and moved on, if necessary, to arbitration
and then, again if necessary, to judicial settlement. That
system might be satisfactory in the case of disputes relat-
ing to the application or interpretation of the articles of
the future instrument. It would be less so, however, par-
ticularly in view of the delays involved, in the case of
disputes involving countermeasures which would then
be allowed to continue for a long time without any exter-
nal control. The Special Rapporteur was aware of the
problem and had tried to solve it by grafting on to the
draft articles on conciliation7 a provision entitling the
conciliation commission to order, where appropriate, the
cessation of countermeasures and provisional measures
of protection. In so doing, he had of course attributed to
the conciliation commission powers usually reserved for
arbitral or judicial bodies. It was true that an impartial
determination of the lawfulness of countermeasures was
necessary and should come at an early stage in the dis-
pute settlement procedure. While he was not as opposed
as some to the granting of such powers to the concili-
ation commission, he wondered whether that departure
from traditional rules was indispensable. One could, for
instance, conceive of the question of the legality of
countermeasures being submitted, from the outset, to ar-
bitration. Admittedly, that would do away with the con-
ciliation stage, which might be regarded as a very useful
first step on the road to binding third-party procedures.

21. The matter could perhaps be solved by separating
the determination of the lawfulness of countermeasures
from the settlement of disputes concerning the applica-
tion or interpretation of the provisions of the future in-
strument. As he saw it, such a separation would have a
dual advantage. On the one hand, there would be an
early and impartial determination of the admissibility of
the countermeasures, something that would be to the
benefit both of the wrongdoing State, which might be
suffering the effects of unjustified countermeasures, and
of the injured State, which would thus have the assur-
ance of not being penalized later for having acted ultra
vires. On the other hand, recourse to procedures for the
settlement of disputes concerning the application or in-
terpretation of the articles of the future instrument would
be enlarged and would not be made dependent—as was
the case under article 1 as proposed by the Special
Rapporteur—on the application of countermeasures. In-
tentionally or not, the whole system proposed was trig-
gered if a dispute had arisen following the adoption by
the allegedly injured State of any countermeasures
against the allegedly law-breaking State (art. 1). If no
countermeasures were applied, the provisions on the set-
tlement of disputes could not be invoked even in the case
of a dispute concerning the application or interpretation
of the future instrument.

22. Matters would be easier to handle, in his view, if
the same provisions did not deal, in the same way, with

7 For the text, see 2305th meeting, para. 25.



2308th meeting—16 June 1993 71

two different questions, namely, the need for a general
system for the settlement of disputes arising out of the
application or interpretation of the articles of the future
instrument and the need for specific provisions on the
settlement of disputes concerning the legitimacy of
countermeasures. In the case of the first kind of dispute,
it would suffice if a few changes were made to the sys-
tem proposed by the Special Rapporteur, in particular
with a view to guaranteeing greater freedom of choice,
though he doubted whether such a broad application of
binding third-party procedures was feasible at that stage.
So far as the second kind of dispute was concerned, a
system along the lines of arbitration could be envisaged.
Such provisions should take full account of the fact that
a solution to the dispute must be secured without delay.
The choice of arbitrators should be simplified, the instal-
lation of the arbitral tribunal should be expedited and its
rules should be as simple as possible to allow for a
speedy conclusion of the task. That task would consist
exclusively of determining whether the countermeasures
were lawful and whether or not they should cease. Only
by express agreement of the parties would the tribunal be
empowered to go any further. He even thought that, in-
stead of referring to an arbitral tribunal and to arbitra-
tion, just to stay within the framework of existing
procedures, it would be preferable simply to speak of a
"commission" or a "countermeasures commission".
That commission could also be authorized to try to bring
the parties to a mutually satisfactory compromise solu-
tion before exercising its power to deliver a binding de-
cision. In fact, it could embody elements of arbitration,
mediation and, of course, fact-finding. It should not be
too difficult to draw up provisions to that effect and he
was confident that the Special Rapporteur would be able
to do so.

23. Many references had been made to the need to
strike a balance between what was desirable and what
was possible, as also to the need not to propose provi-
sions that States would not accept. There was, however,
no guarantee whatsoever that States would accept the ar-
ticles the Commission produced and, unfortunately, it
was States, not the Commission, that made international
law. In the past, the Commission had prepared articles
tailored to what it supposed to be the wish of States, only
for the General Assembly to put them aside, even when a
majority of the States represented there were not opposed
to those articles. He, like other members, was firmly con-
vinced that the Commission had a responsibility of its
own and that it could contribute to the progressive devel-
opment of international law only if it acted, particularly
in the area of State responsibility, with that rational
audacity which Mr. Mahiou had mentioned earlier.

24. Mr. YANKOV said that, before examining in de-
tail the proposed draft articles on conciliation and arbi-
tration, he had two general remarks to make on the sys-
tem for the settlement of disputes envisaged by the
Special Rapporteur. In the first place, he noted that, apart
from some considerations of a general nature in favour
of a third-party settlement procedure, the Special Rap-
porteur placed the emphasis above all on the need for a
binding settlement procedure as a counterweight to pos-
sible countermeasures and to minimize the negative as-
pects of unilateral measures. The deterrent, and perhaps
preventive, effect which the establishment of a dispute

settlement system would, of course, have on the ill-
considered adoption of countermeasures was undeniable
and the Special Rapporteur's fifth report provided con-
vincing arguments to that effect. But, as the Special
Rapporteur himself admitted, effective third-party settle-
ment procedures should be envisaged in part 3 of the
draft. Since part 3 was not confined to countermeasures
alone, there was the problem of the scope of the dispute
settlement system, which, logically, should apply to all
the issues dealt with in part 3. As Mr. Bennouna had ob-
served (2307th meeting), the Special Rapporteur might
have thought that, in the case of many of those issues,
reference could be had to established practice. At all
events, it seemed that, at the current stage, he had con-
sidered it preferable to concentrate his efforts on the role
of third-party dispute settlement in the case of unilateral
action. That was apparent from his report, in which he
stated that the disputes that would be covered by that
procedure were those legal disputes arising as a conse-
quence of countermeasures or counter-reprisals resorted
to by parties in an international responsibility relation-
ship.

25. Having regard to the numerous general treaties on
the settlement of disputes which were not applied and
which were ineffective, the Special Rapporteur was not
to be reproached on that score; it should even be
recognized that it would be more appropriate to engage
in a substantial progressive development of dispute set-
tlement procedures by providing for a more effective ar-
bitration clause. But international developments and the
increasing number of international treaties and other in-
struments which recognized the practical significance of
third-party dispute settlement provided favourable
grounds for the progressive development of international
law in that field. Of course, expectations should not be
exaggerated. The end of the cold war did not signify an
end to conflicts between States; and environmental, re-
ligious and ethnic problems were the source of even
more complex discord. The aim was not, of course, to
produce texts that would go down in the history of the
work of the Commission without ever being put into ef-
fect.

26. His second general remark concerned the question
of whether the dispute settlement procedures in the case
of countermeasures should be brought into operation be-
fore or after the adoption of countermeasures. With all
due respect, he would have liked the Special Rapporteur
to ask himself whether there were not areas in which re-
course to binding procedures for the settlement of dis-
putes before the adoption of countermeasures would be
useful and conceivable.

27. Turning to the draft articles,8 he said that he did not
altogether agree with the Special Rapporteur when he
stated in respect of conciliation, that the non-binding
character of the outcome of conciliation made that
procedure inadequate for the purpose of correcting the
negative aspects of unilateral countermeasures. Every-
thing depended on what was expected of conciliation. It
had been generally established—and reference could be
had in that connection to the Handbook on the Peaceful

8 For the text, see 2305th meeting, para. 25.



72 Summary records of the meetings of the forty-fifth session

Settlement of Disputes between States9—that the func-
tions of conciliation were to elucidate the facts in dispute
and to bring the parties to an agreement by suggesting to
them mutually acceptable solutions.

28. In his view, an attempt should not be made to re-
form the institution of conciliation by assigning it func-
tions that were more appropriate for arbitration or judi-
cial settlement. It was, however, quite conceivable for
conciliation to be made compulsory, subject to an agree-
ment by the parties to the dispute to proceed in the event
of failure to arbitration or some other third-party settle-
ment. There were three advantages to such an approach:
any confusion between conciliation and arbitration
would be avoided; the task of the parties would be sim-
plified by enabling them to proceed directly to arbitra-
tion without having to go through the intermediate and
hypothetical phase of the conciliation commission; and
the progressive development of the law would require
less effort, as there would be an institution soundly
rooted in State practice.

29. The opinions of the conciliation commission
should, moreover, retain their recommendatory nature: if
States did not come to an agreement, the other mecha-
nisms for settlement would be set in motion. Indeed, the
Special Rapporteur proposed the insertion of the words
"where appropriate" before the word "order" in arti-
cle 2, paragraph 1 (b), although the word "order" could
perhaps have been replaced by the word "recommend"
for the sake of greater clarity. He would also like some
wording along the following lines to be added at the end
of article 3, which dealt with arbitration: "However, the
parties concerned may agree to submit the dispute to ar-
bitration without prior recourse to conciliation". That
would pave the way for a speedier method of settlement.
Perhaps some qualifying word should also be added to
the article to make it clear that the "decision" delivered
by the arbitral tribunal would be of a binding nature,
even if that was already understood.

30. Notwithstanding those comments, he was in gen-
eral agreement with the Special Rapporteur's conclu-
sions, which had undoubtedly helped work on the topic
to advance.

31. Mr. THIAM expressed his congratulations to the
Special Rapporteur both on the quality of his report and
on his generosity and courage. Having acknowledged in
chapter I, section E, of the report the failure of the inter-
national community to develop third-party lawmaking
comparable to that of the national community, the Spe-
cial Rapporteur added that international lawyers could
not escape their responsibility by resorting to the out-
dated argument that Governments would not accept
more adequate settlement commitments. The Commis-
sion might make that statement its motto, for its task was
to open up new avenues for the progressive development
of international law. The first of the reasons usually cited
against a mandatory regime for dispute settlement was a
restrictive interpretation of the Commission's terms of
reference: that its task was to codify international law
and not to develop it. He was not of that opinion. The
Commission must develop the law at the same time as

codifying it. Moreover, the very fact of codifying topics
which thus far had fallen within the scope of customary
law already amounted to progressive development.

32. Another argument often advanced was the fear that
Governments would not accept the substantial obliga-
tions which might result from a dispute settlement sys-
tem. But it was the Commission's role to convince
others and move forward. Everyone agreed that counter-
measures were repugnant. However, they could not be
combated with timid attempts at codification. The inter-
national community must be made to face up to its re-
sponsibilities. Countermeasures were dangerous from all
standpoints, even regardless of the balance of power, for
they ran counter to the principle that no one had the right
to dispense his own justice.

33. The draft articles10 proposed a well-crafted system,
with the successive steps of conciliation, arbitration and
judicial settlement. However, at present, conciliation was
hardly practised in Africa, which had long had recourse
to the political settlement *)f disputes at inter-State con-
ferences. That did not mean that an organized concili-
ation system was unthinkable, but it would have to be
established with a degree of caution. For example, the
functions of the conciliation commission might be too
hybrid in nature and covered both conciliation and arbi-
tration. He was particularly troubled by the commission
being empowered to order the suspension of any coun-
termeasures resorted to by either party. In his view, the
conciliation commission should do no more than make
recommendations.

34. Nor was it clear why countermeasures had to be
taken before the conciliation procedure could be set in
motion. That approach seemed too restrictive and, in his
view, it ought to be possible to initiate the procedure
from the moment that a wrongful act existed which gave
rise to a dispute.

35. Nor could he see why the three steps of settlement
should necessarily be successive. The parties should be
free to choose the means of settlement which suited
them. Lastly, the provisions of article 6 concerning the
possibility of recourse to ICJ in the case of an exces de
pouvoir by the arbitral tribunal did not appear to add
anything new.

36. He proposed that the draft articles should be re-
ferred to the Drafting Committee, if that was the wish of
the Special Rapporteur. Even if some members of the
Commission disagreed, that stage was part of the normal
conduct of the Commission's work. The Drafting Com-
mittee dealt with both form and substance, although that
did not mean, of course, that the draft articles would be
adopted.

37. Mr. TOMUSCHAT said that he did not want to
dwell on the ambiguities in the report which had been
highlighted by Mr. Pellet (2305th meeting) and Mr. Ma-
hiou (2306th meeting), but he did think that those ambi-
guities were real and not merely the result of a superfi-
cial reading.

38. One thing was for sure: the scope of the draft arti-
cles must be crystal clear and there were three ways of
achieving that. The first was to draft articles dealing ex-

9 Official Records of the General Assembly, Forty-sixth Session,
Supplement No. 33 (A/46/33), annex. 10 For the text, see 2305th meeting, para. 25.



2308th meeting—16 June 1993 73

clusively with the settlement of disputes relating to
countermeasures. The Special Rapporteur had made it
clear that that was not his wish, and he agreed with him.
In addition, article 12, which dealt with the question,
was being considered by the Drafting Committee, so that
it was useless to conduct a plenary debate on it. It was of
course difficult to support the idea of a unitary regime.
There were many different situations in international life
which must all be dealt with in an adequate fashion. For
example, in the case of an armed conflict, the Geneva
Conventions of 1949 and the Additional Protocols
thereto of 1977 did indeed ban countermeasures in many
fields, but not in all. It was inconceivable that, before be-
ing entitled to take reprisals in reaction to a breach of the
rules of warfare, the victim party must first have to go
through a lengthy procedure of dispute settlement. Un-
fortunately, the Commission was caught in a kind of
trap—which might be called the "Ago trap"—for it had
accepted that it was incumbent on the Commission to
draft articles which were the same for all imaginable dis-
putes between States. Although he was resolutely in fa-
vour of establishing a system of third-party settlement in
the case of countermeasures, he thought that the Com-
mission should not be afraid to differentiate according to
the subject-matter at issue. In that connection, he would
like to know why the sophisticated system provided for
dispute settlement in the Vienna Convention on the Law
of Treaties had never been set in motion during the many
years of its existence. In any event, he agreed with many
other members of the Commission that the dispute settle-
ment machinery for countermeasures should be sepa-
rated from the general system of dispute settlement in
the field of State responsibility. A special system for
countermeasures was particularly necessary when the
measures were carried out by third parties that were not
directly injured. Despite what several other speakers had
said and whatever the Special Rapporteur might think,
he himself was of the opinion that a distinction must be
made between a directly injured State and a State acting
as a kind of agent of the international community. That
was what Georges Scelle had described as dedoublement
fonctionnel (duplication of functions) when speaking of
cases in which a measure was taken by a State—and thus
constituted an act of national sovereignty—but where in
reality the State was acting to assert the interests of the
international community. That was an important differ-
ence which ought to have a number of consequences
with regard to procedural machinery.

39. The second way of defining the scope of the draft
articles would be to confine the settlement system to dis-
putes concerning the interpretation and application of the
future convention, following the usual model of dispute
settlement clauses in treaties, which, strictly speaking,
applied only to disputes within the framework of the
treaty concerned. Nevertheless, it was doubtful whether
that was a viable or recommendable solution. If a con-
vention on State responsibility ever did emerge from the
Commission's work, it would set forth secondary rules
and would constitute, as it were, the general part of the
law of State responsibility. That being so, was it possible
or advisable to separate the general question of State re-
sponsibility from the question of the primary rules at is-
sue, the breach of which gave rise to State responsibil-
ity? That was doubtful, for there were many issues
regulated by the draft articles which were intimately tied

up with the primary rules: for example, separating the
obligation of result from the obligation of means. Arti-
cle 19 of part 1 of the draft,11 on international crimes was
another case in which the so-called secondary rules
crossed the artificial boundary between primary and sec-
ondary rules, requiring a thorough examination of the
substantive rule alleged to have been breached by the al-
leged wrongdoing State to the detriment of the alleged
victim State. The conclusion must be that a settlement
system confined to disputes concerning the interpretation
and application of the future convention would make lit-
tle sense: on that point his conclusion differed from that
of Mr. Yankov.

40. There remained the third means of defining the
scope of the draft articles, which seemed to be the one
favoured by the Special Rapporteur, and which
amounted to prescribing a compulsory dispute settlement
system for all breaches of an international obligation,
whatever the subject-matter, in accordance with the
"Ago philosophy" set out in part 1, article 1, to the ef-
fect that no account was to be taken of the substantive
importance of the rule in question. Mr. Pellet (2305th
meeting) had said that the utilization of such a design
would mean a revolution in international law. The Spe-
cial Rapporteur, to judge by his response, did not like
that proposition. The correctness of Mr. Pellet's observa-
tion could hardly be doubted, however, for he did not
mean by "revolution" the overthrow of international
law, but a great leap forward towards the actual
realization of the concept of international community.
To date, States had always defended their right to select
the dispute settlement mechanism which best suited their
needs. But that principle, although enshrined in Arti-
cle 33 of the Charter of the United Nations, emphasized in
the Manila Declaration on the Peaceful Settlement of In-
ternational Disputes,12 and still regarded as one of the
cornerstones of the international legal order, had serious
defects in its application, if only because powerful States
invariably preferred negotiations, where they enjoyed a
privileged position as a fact of life. The system must
therefore be improved. But was it possible to prescribe a
rigid mechanism for the settlement of any international
dispute, whatever its nature, its importance for the coun-
try concerned or its long-term repercussions? At present,
the subject-matter concerned played an important role.
For example, States were generally more prepared to ac-
cept binding dispute settlement in technical areas—and
they still carefully examined the possible consequences
for their interests before submitting to third-party settle-
ment. That was the reason why the landscape of dispute
settlement clauses was an extremely variegated one con-
taining a wide spectrum of formulas. Was it possible to
replace that complicated structure by a uniform model?
Should negotiation be excluded or invariably reduced to
the first stage of a process which in each and every in-
stance would lead to ICJ? Nothing was certain in that re-
gard and he thought that the Commission should deliber-
ate further before making up its mind. If it decided to
introduce a legal revolution, then—contrary to the usual
practice in revolutions—it should carefully weigh the ar-

1 ' For the texts of articles 1 to 35 of part 1, provisionally adopted
on first reading at the thirty-second session, see Yearbook... 1980,
vol. II (Part Two), pp. 30 et seq.

12 General Assembly resolution 37/10, annex.



74 Summary records of the meetings of the forty-fifth session

guments for and against and the feasibility and viability
of its proposals. It would also, of course, have to give
some attention to the question of costs. Negotiation was
usually the cheapest mechanism and any other mecha-
nism might entail costs which the developing countries
might not be able to bear. In conclusion, he emphasized
that, as a question of principle was involved, only a ple-
nary debate could show the Commission which route it
should take.

41. Mr. SZEKELY recalled that during the recent
work on State responsibility, some members of the Com-
mission had warned that the draft articles should not en-
courage the use of countermeasures. That balance had
been the single factor responsible for closing the gap be-
tween the members of the Commission who were reluc-
tant to mention countermeasures in the draft and those
who were in favour of doing so. The Special Rappor-
teur's excellent fifth report contained suggestions for the
progressive development of the law which could help
advance the work, but the balance in question might be
upset by the close link established in the report between
countermeasures and dispute settlement. In fact, accord-
ing to the report, a State that was victim of an interna-
tionally wrongful act could make use of the procedures
envisaged only if it had resorted to countermeasures,
thereby giving the impression that it was the counter-
measures that had given rise to the dispute, whereas they
were only the result of the original wrongful act. While
endorsing the system of successive obligations going
from cessation of the wrongful act to reparation, he con-
sidered that the procedures envisaged in the draft should
be available whether or not countermeasures had been
applied. In that case, article I13 would have to be
amended. Comparing the fifth report with the fourth
one,14 there appeared to be an important contradiction: in
the fourth report, States were encouraged not to take
countermeasures until they had exhausted the settlement
procedures.

42. In view of Article 33 of the Charter of the United
Nations, he also thought that the clause dealing with the
exhaustion of settlement procedures in article 12 should
be deleted.

43. The proposed system should thus operate in stages:
first, the injured State would request the cessation of the
act in question. If the wrongdoing State did not respond,
a second stage would be initiated, during which the in-
jured State had in good faith to exhaust all possibilities
of engaging the wrongdoing State in amicable settlement
procedures. In case of failure, the injured State would
move into the third stage by exercising its right to go be-
fore a conciliation commission and then to implement
the procedures provided for in articles 3 to 5 of part 3 of
the draft. The question was where countermeasures
would fit into that system. If the first stage was success-
ful, involving cessation of the wrongful act and repara-
tion granted to the injured State, those measures were
hardly appropriate. The same held true if the injured
State managed to bring about the application in good
faith of an amicable settlement procedure. During those
two stages, the injured State should have the right only

13 For the text, see 2305th meeting, para. 25.
14 Yearbook.. . 1992, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/444 and

Add. 1-3.

to take interim measures of protection, including provi-
sional countermeasures, for the sole purpose of protect-
ing its interests and encouraging the wrongdoing State to
participate in the first stage or the second. As soon as the
injured State had won its cause, any countermeasure had
to be suspended.

44. In the event of total failure, the injured State would
have to go on to the third stage, which made sense only
if the basic structure and foundations of the system pro-
posed by the Special Rapporteur were accepted. If the
Commission were to engage in a simple exercise of codi-
fication, without progressive development of the law, its
work would not be adequate to meet the challenge of es-
tablishing an effective mechanism for ordering interna-
tional relationships.

45. Thus, in case of failure, it was important that the
injured State should be able to turn to a conciliation
commission and that the wrongdoing State should accept
that procedure. If that commission did not have the
means proposed by the Special Rapporteur to obtain ces-
sation of the wrongful act and order interim measures of
protection, the injured State would not be motivated to
seek out that type of settlement.

46. If, after the conciliation procedure, it was neces-
sary, as proposed by the Special Rapporteur, to proceed
to arbitration and then to judicial settlement, the propo-
sals contained in the report seemed to provide the el-
ements needed to get the wrongdoing State to cease the
wrongful act and to grant reparation; that would encour-
age the peaceful settlement of disputes and could only
strengthen the primacy of law in international relations.

47. Mr. ARANGIO-RUIZ (Special Rapporteur) said
he was grateful to the members of the Commission who
had spoken on the subject, regardless of their views on
his proposals. It was obvious that a special rapporteur's
proposals were always provisional and open to criticism,
but, on the whole, the impression seemed to be favour-
able. Before leaving Rome with his draft, he had dis-
cussed it with young lawyers and some of them had been
rather pessimistic about the way his proposals might be
received. He had decided to submit them anyway, in the
hope, above all, that they might be supported by some
and also because, even if the draft was definitely rejected
in the end, it would have none the less served to transmit
a message to the next generation of international lawyers
who would be considering the issue under conditions
more favourable than those now prevailing which were
already an improvement on those of 10 years ago or
less.

48. He was grateful to Mr. Bennouna, Mr. Calero Ro-
drigues, Mr. Fomba, Mr. Guney, Mr. Kabatsi, Mr. Ma-
hiou, Mr. Pambou-Tchivounda, Mr. Razafindralambo,
Mr. Szekely, Mr. Thiam, Mr. Tomuschat and Mr.
Yankov for the positive interest they had shown in the
topic, even though they had not unanimously endorsed
the report.

49. He was sorry to have to omit from his general trib-
ute one member of the Commission, who had spoken
first, for the very simple reason that that member had
clearly read the report only very partially or very superfi-
cially. It was possible in that connection that a misunder-
standing had arisen from the paper that he himself had
had distributed on 14 June. That brief paper was neither



2308th meeting—16 June 1993 75

a correction to the report nor an addition: it contained lit-
eral quotes from the report in order to demonstrate that
the report had made it perfectly clear that the measures
he was proposing would apply after a countermeasure
had beer resorted to and after a dispute had arisen as a
result of that countermeasure. The same held true for the
role of the conciliation commission: nowhere was it con-
tested that the outcome of the commission's work should
be strictly in the nature of recommendations, mediation
or conciliation, except that the commission should also
have the authority to order the suspension of any coun-
termeasures that one of the parties might have taken
against the other or to order interim measures and/or
fact-finding, also in loco.

50. He also wished, on an equally provisional basis, to
give a more detailed explanation of certain points in re-
ply to Mr. Tomuschat, who had raised three questions
which warranted consideration. First, how was it that the
provisions on dispute settlement contained in the Vienna
Convention on the Law of Treaties had not been used
thus far? The point was well taken and the issue had
been raised by a French scholar, who had submitted an
article to him on dispute settlement and the Commis-
sion's policy in that regard which he had referred to sev-
eral times in his report. However, as pointed out in par-
ticular by Mr. Bennouna and Mr. Calero Rodrigues, the
basic idea was to arrive at a balance between, on the one
hand, the fact of allowing countermeasures and, on the
other, the consequences arising from them, namely, the
need to provide in one way or another for a corrective to
such unilateral countermeasures. That was the basic idea,
even if he had had to add some details so as not to be su-
perficial; the details could be left to the Drafting Com-
mittee if the articles were referred to it. With that idea as
a starting-point, his impression was that the situation
was not the same in the Vienna Convention on the Law
of Treaties and the convention on which the Commission
was working, assuming, as Mr. Tomuschat had said, that
there would one day be a convention on State respons-
ibility. In that respect, he was confident: there would one
day be a convention or a treaty on State responsibility,
even if he was no longer around to see it adopted. Fur-
thermore, he would prefer not to be around when a good
convention was adopted rather than live to see a conven-
tion which would not make much sense from the view-
point of the progressive development of international
law.

51. With regard to the dedoublement fonctionnel to
which Mr. Tomuschat had also referred, he was not a
supporter of that concept, but would gladly discuss it
with Mr. Tomuschat, at the International Law Seminar
round table, for instance.

52. As to negotiation, Mr. Tomuschat had said that,
while conciliation, arbitration and judicial settlement
were discussed in the report, it did not mention negotia-
tion. As a perceptive lawyer, however, Mr. Tomuschat
knew quite well that negotiation would surely come even
before resort to the conciliation commission and that it
would continue throughout the conciliation process,
since the primary role of the commission was to serve as
an intermediary between the parties and try to get them
to agree—and that was obviously negotiation. Negotia-
tion would then continue in the event that conciliation
failed, since it was always possible that an agreement be-

tween the two parties might be reached on the basis of
the commission's recommendations, even after the es-
tablishment of an arbitral tribunal and during the arbitra-
tion procedure, and that the agreement would be con-
firmed in the arbitral award.

53. As to the question of revolution, Mr. Calero Ro-
drigues had kindly confirmed that there was, in fact,
nothing of the sort in the draft. In contrast, Mr. To-
muschat, while agreeing that what was involved was not
an upheaval, as it had been called by one speaker, whose
viewpoint—as expressed in his statement—he himself
(the Special Rapporteur) did not endorse, considered that
there was nevertheless such a great leap forward that, for
all practical purposes, it meant a change. His proposals
would nevertheless not give rise to any change whatever
in the structure of the inter-State system. States would
continue to be the "makers" of international law and
each State individually would be the first to decide
whether a wrongful act had been committed. The only
applicable systems of third-party settlement would be
conciliation, with non-binding results, except for proce-
dural questions, arbitration, which had been used for
centuries, and judicial settlement, which was nothing
new, since ICJ had been in existence for about 75 years.

54. It was true, as Mr. Tomuschat had said, that, in
some areas, particularly technical ones, there were more
extensive dispute settlement obligations. But, outside
those areas, there were non-technical fields which were
covered by a great many General Assembly resolutions,
including the Manila Declaration,15 and all of which,
without exception, involved general obligations to seek
out an agreement in the event of a dispute. That was the
basic point and that was why he had stressed the need to
consider arbitration clauses as a possible way of making
progress, in particular in the convention on State respon-
sibility which might one day be concluded, in order to
go beyond resolutions, declarations, treaties—general,
bilateral or multilateral—and other agreements relating
to arbitration or judicial settlement which had obvious
limitations. He had thought it appropriate to make those
comments and stress once again the need to grasp prop-
erly the contents of the paper distributed on 14 June,
which was not a correction, but simply an explanation of
his ideas; whoever failed to realize that could not claim
to have read his report.

55. Mr. GUNEY noted that, in replying to
Mr. Tomuschat, the Special Rapporteur had tried to con-
vince the members of the Commission that since nego-
tiation was an integral part of the conciliation procedure
which he was advocating, there was no need to include it
in the draft as an independent means of dispute settle-
ment. Negotiation had a major role no matter what sys-
tem was envisaged, as stated in Article 33 of the Charter
of the United Nations which established negotiation as
the first means of dispute settlement. If the parties had
not exhausted the most effective method, namely, nego-
tiation in good faith, what were the chances that they
would decide or agree to move on to other dispute settle-
ment procedures?

15 See footnote 12 above.



76 Summary records of the meetings of the forty-fifth session

Organization of work of the session (concluded)*

[Agenda item 1]

56. The CHAIRMAN recalled that, in accordance with
the principles adopted at the preceding session, the mem-
bership of the Drafting Committee would vary according
to the topic under consideration. In respect of inter-
national liability for injurious consequences arising
out of acts not prohibited by international law, Mr.
Giiney, Mr. Sreenivasa Rao, Mr. Razafindralambo and
Mr. Tomuschat had been appointed to replace the outgo-
ing members. The Drafting Committee was thus com-
posed of Mr. Al-Baharna, Mr. Calero Rodrigues, Mr.
Eiriksson, Mr. Giiney, Mr. Kabatsi, Mr. Sreenivasa Rao,
Mr. Razafindralambo, Mr. Rosenstock, Mr. Shi, Mr.
Szekely, Mr. Tomuschat, Mr. Vereshchetin and Mr.
Villagran Kramer.

57. He himself would serve as Special Rapporteur and
Mr. de Saram as Rapporteur of the Commission.

58. Mr. EIRIKSSON said that Mr. Yamada should be
added to the list of the members of the Planning Group.

The meeting rose at 1.05 p.m.

* Resumed from the 2298th meeting.

2309th MEETING

Friday, 18 June 1993, at 10.05 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Julio BARBOZA

Present: Mr. Al-Baharna, Mr. Al-Khasawneh, Mr.
Arangio-Ruiz, Mr. Bennouna, Mr. Calero Rodrigues,
Mr. de Saram, Mr. Eiriksson, Mr. Fomba, Mr. Guney,
Mr. Idris, Mr. Jacovides, Mr. Kabatsi, Mr. Koroma,
Mr. Mahiou, Mr. Mikulka, Mr. Pambou-Tchivounda,
Mr. Sreenivasa Rao, Mr. Razafindralambo, Mr. Robin-
son, Mr. Rosenstock, Mr. Shi, Mr. Szekely, Mr. Thiam,
Mr. Tomuschat, Mr. Vereshchetin, Mr. Villagran
Kramer, Mr. Yamada, Mr. Yankov.

State responsibility (continued) (A/CN.4/446, sect. C,
A/CN.4/453 and Add.1-3,1 A/CN.4/L.480 and
Add.l, ILC(XLV)/Conf.Room Doc.l)

[Agenda item 2]

FIFTH REPORT OF THE SPECIAL RAPPORTEUR (continued)

1. Mr. YAMADA said that, whereas the fifth report
(A/CN.4/453 and Add.1-3) might have been expected to

cover dispute settlement procedures of a broad general
nature, it was instead confined primarily to dispute set-
tlement procedures relating to the regime of counter-
measures, and it also considered dispute settlement pro-
cedures relating to "crimes" of States under article 19
of part 1 ? As to the latter, until the relevant draft articles
had been presented, he would reserve his comments. He
would, however, request clarification, or perhaps modifi-
cation, of the expression "international delicts qualified
as crimes of State" used in the title of chapter II of the
fifth report,3 inasmuch as the Commission had already
decided to distinguish between "crimes" and "delicts"
in part 1 of the draft.

2. The Special Rapporteur devoted a significant part of
his carefully conceived report to arguing the importance
of making effective dispute settlement procedures avail-
able in the framework of State responsibility in general,
and focused in particular on the need to ensure that uni-
lateral measures and reactions by States were appropri-
ately controlled. Despite laudable intentions, the report
did not necessarily present a convincing argument for
the proposed procedures. The Special Rapporteur
seemed to be trying to create two parallel restrictions for
the control, under international law, of unilateral reac-
tions: by defining a legal regime if the injured State re-
sorted to countermeasures (part 2, arts. 11-14)4 and by
establishing the obligation of an injured State to exhaust
all effective dispute settlement procedures before resort-
ing to countermeasures.

3. It was certainly desirable to create effective dispute
settlement procedures, in particular compulsory proced-
ures, as one of the measures for controlling unilateral re-
actions to wrongful acts. In that sense, he saw significant
value in the Special Rapporteur's devoting such a large
portion of his report to describing why such procedures
were important. Furthermore, as the Special Rapporteur
himself had reiterated, it was appropriate for the Com-
mission to foster third-party dispute settlement proce-
dures on the occasion of the United Nations Decade of
International Law.5

4. Nevertheless, the fundamental problem in regard to
the report was the overall structure of such procedures.
First of all, the sense of the fifth report was not suffi-
ciently clear, especially as to whether the proposed pro-
cedures related to State responsibility in general or to
countermeasures alone. That ambiguity had given rise to
criticism now found to be based on an inaccurate under-
standing of the Special Rapporteur's intention, for the
Special Rapporteur's paper of 14 June 1993, which had
been circulated among members of the Commission,
pointed out that the envisaged third-party procedures
would cover not just the interpretation/application of
the articles on countermeasures but the interpreta-

1 Reproduced in Yearbook... 1993, vol. II (Part One).

2 For the texts of articles 1 to 35 of part 1, provisionally adopted on
first reading at the thirty-second session, see Yearbook... 1980,
vol. II (Part Two), pp. 30 et seq.

3 Original title of chapter II as it appeared in document A/CN.4/453
(mimeographed) and which had subsequently been changed.

4 For the texts of draft articles 5 bis and 11 to 14 of part 2 referred
to the Drafting Committee, see Yearbook... 1992, vol. II (Part Two),
footnotes 86, 56, 61, 67 and 69, respectively.

5 Proclaimed by the General Assembly in its resolution 44/23.


